U. PORTO

MESTRADO INTEGRADO EM MEDICINA

Colitis-associated colorectal cancer: pathways of carcinogenesis and biomarkers

Mariana Vasconcelos Teixeira de Magalhães



Colitis-associated colorectal cancer: pathways of carcinogenesis and biomarkers

Estudante:

Mariana Vasconcelos Teixeira de Magalhães marianavtmagalhães@gmail.com

Mestrado Integrado em Medicina

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar, Universidade do Porto.

Orientador:

Ricardo Jorge Marcos-Pinto, MD PhD

Professor Auxiliar Convidado do Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar, Universidade do Porto (ICBAS-UP);

Assistente Hospitalar de Gastroenterologia no Centro Hospitalar do Porto

Investigador Afiliado ao grupo de investigação em Imunologia, Cancro e Glicomedicina do Instituto de Patologia e Imunologia Molecular da Universidade do Porto / Instituto de Investigação e Inovação em Saúde (IPATIMUP/i3S);

Grupo de Avaliação de Tecnologias em Oncologia Gastrointestinal no Centro de Investigação em Tecnologias e Serviços de Saúde (CINTESIS).

Coorientadora:

Salomé Pinho, DVM, PhD

Líder do grupo de investigação em Imunologia, Cancro e Glicomedicina do IPATIMUP/i3S;

Professora Afiliada na Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto (FMUP).

junho de 2019

Colitis-associated colorectal cancer: pathways of carcinogenesis and biomarkers

Estudante:

Mariana Magalhães

(Mariana Vasconcelos Teixeira de Magalhães)

Orientador:

had In This KA

(Ricardo Jorge Marcos-Pinto, MD PhD)

Coorientadora:

(Salomé Pinho, DVM, PhD)

07 de junho de 2019

Agradecimentos

Ao meu orientador e Professor, Doutor Ricardo Pinto,

pelo profundo conhecimento e interesse, que me despertaram a curiosidade e o gosto por aprender sempre mais, e também pela dedicação e disponibilidade, fundamentais para a elaboração do meu trabalho.

À Professora Doutora Salomé Pinho,

minha coorientadora, que me recebeu muito bem no i3S, incluindo-me no seu grupo de investigação de excelência, com o qual me orgulho de trabalhar.

À investigadora Ana Dias,

do grupo de investigação em Imunologia, Cancro e Glicomedicina do IPATIMUP/i3S, que me cativou com o seu gosto pela investigação, incentivando-me a levantar novas questões, e que foi uma ajuda essencial na estruturação e revisão do trabalho.

À Dra. Mónica Garrido,

médica Interna de Gastroenterologia no Centro Hospitalar do Porto, pela paciência e cuidado com que foi esclarecendo as minhas dúvidas.

À minha família,

pelo acompanhamento e apoio incondicional ao longo de todo o meu percurso académico, e em especial ao meu avô Artur, a quem dedico este trabalho, por me transmitir a sua paixão pela Medicina e a vontade de seguir o seu exemplo, tornando-me numa profissional de excelência a nível científico, técnico e humano.

Resumo

Introdução

A doença inflamatória intestinal está associada a risco acrescido de cancro colorretal. Embora a carcinogénese associada a esta doença ainda seja mal conhecida, sabe-se que os mecanismos não são idênticos à sequência de adenomacarcinoma do cancro esporádico e que as alterações genómicas são semelhantes, mas diferem na frequência e na ordem de eventos carcinogénicos. De forma a precocemente, através de estratégias poder intervir preventivas do desenvolvimento tumoral, é essencial a compreensão dos perfis genéticos e moleculares por detrás da carcinogénese, para permitir diagnóstico precoce, prevenção e tratamento mais eficazes, como também prever a resposta terapêutica e identificar biomarcadores prognósticos. Até agora, poucas moléculas estão propostas como possíveis biomarcadores, mas é provável que a Glicomedicina traga respostas nesta área.

Objetivos

Revisão científica relativa à associação entre doença inflamatória intestinal e cancro colorretal, com destaque para as alterações a nível histológico e molecular que diferenciam a carcinogénese nestes casos da dos cancros esporádicos, bem como para os novos biomarcadores, sublinhando a importância que os glicanos têm vindo a ganhar nesta área.

Metodologia

Revisão de publicações científicas acedidas, maioritariamente, através da base de dados informatizada PubMed. De entre os artigos originais e de revisão publicados entre 2008 e 2019, em inglês, selecionei aqueles considerados de maior relevância, atualidade e rigor científico. As bibliografias destes artigos foram também analisadas para possivelmente identificar outras publicações a incluir na revisão.

Conclusões

A abordagem dos doentes com doença inflamatória intestinal tem ainda questões por resolver, incluindo necessidade de melhor tratamento e prevenção de complicações, nomeadamente o cancro colorretal. Em relação à prevenção, existem dados contraditórios sobre o efeito quimioprofilático dos anti-TNF, 5-ASAs e tiopurinas e, considerando que aumentam o risco de infeções e de alguns cancros, é importante avaliar a relação risco/benefício do seu uso crónico. Novas terapias estão a ser aprovadas, mas sua eficácia e segurança a longo prazo ainda não são bem conhecidas. Colonoscopias de vigilância também são altamente recomendadas, mas há dúvidas quanto à melhor técnica e altura em que devem ser realizadas, uma vez que alguns cancros se desenvolveram antes do início da vigilância, o que pode explicar por que não há redução da mortalidade associada.

Foram feitas algumas descobertas sobre a patogénese do cancro colorretal associado à doença inflamatória intestinal, que destacam o papel da resposta inflamatória e imunológica crónica como potenciadora das alterações genéticas carcinogénicas e que apoiam a possibilidade da contribuição do microbioma intestinal, visto que casos de cancro têm mais disbiose do que indivíduos saudáveis.

Em relação aos novos biomarcadores, a Glicomedicina parece ser muito promissora, tendo já revelado que níveis de *N*-glicanos ramificados, anticorpos anti-glicano e glicosilação das imunoglobulinas G podem constituir biomarcadores prognósticos precoces, e que a *N*-acetilglucosamina pode ser uma estratégia imunomoduladora específica e não tóxica para tratamento e quimioprofilaxia do cancro colorretal.

Palavras-chave

Biomarcadores; Cancro associado a Doença Inflamatória Intestinal; Cancro colorretal; Carcinogénese; Doença Inflamatória Intestinal; Glicanos.

Abstract

Introduction

Inflammatory bowel disease is associated with higher risk of colorectal cancer. Although colitis-associated cancer' pathogenesis remains unclear, it is known that the carcinogenic mechanisms differ from the adenoma-carcinoma sequence of sporadic cancer and that genomic alterations are similar but differ in frequency and in order of carcinogenic events. More than trying to prevent cancer, by improving disease treatment and surveillance, it is important to better understand the genetic and molecular profiles behind these cases' carcinogenesis, allowing earlier diagnosis, more effective prevention and treatment strategies, predicting therapy response and identifying prognostic biomarkers. So far, there are very few molecules proposed to be possible biomarkers, but it is likely that Glycomedicine research will bring new answers to this question.

Objectives

Scientific review on the association between colorectal cancer and inflammatory bowel disease, highlighting the histological and molecular changes that differentiate these cases carcinogenesis from that of sporadic cancers, as well as the new biomarkers, underlining the importance that glycans have been gaining in this matter.

Methods

Review of scientific publications accessed, mainly, through the computerized PubMed database. Among the original and review articles published between 2008 and 2019, in English, I selected those considered of greater relevance and scientific rigor. Those articles references were also analyzed to possibly identify other publications to be included in the review.

Conclusions

Inflammatory bowel disease' management still has unresolved issues, including need for better treatment and prevention of complications, namely colorectal there cancer. Regarding prevention, is conflicting data about the chemoprophylactic effect of anti-TNF, 5-ASAs and thiopurines and, considering they raise the risk of infections and of some cancers, it is important to assess the benefit/risk ratio of their long-term use. New therapies are being approved, but their long-term efficacy and safety are not well known yet. Colonic surveillance is highly recommended, but doubts remain regarding the best technique and timing in which colonoscopies should be performed, since some cancers developed before surveillance started, which may explain why there is no mortality reduction associated with it.

There are some new answers about the pathogenesis of colitis-associated colorectal cancer, which highlight the role of the chronic inflammatory and immune response as a potentiator of the carcinogenic genetic alterations and that support the possibility of intestinal microbiome contribution in carcinogenesis, since cancer cases have more dysbiosis than healthy individuals.

Regarding new disease biomarkers, Glycomedicine seems very promising in this matter and already revealed that levels of branched *N*-glycans, anti-glycan antibodies and immunoglobulin G glycosylation can constitute early prognostic biomarkers, and that *N*-acetylglucosamine can be an inexpensive and nontoxic targeted-specific immunomodulatory strategy for treatment and chemoprophylaxis.

Key Words

Biomarkers; Carcinogenesis; Colitis-Associated Cancer; Colorectal Cancer; Glycans; Inflammatory Bowel Disease.

List of abbreviations:

5-ASA - aminosalicylates ACCA - anti-chitobioside carbohydrate IgA AGA – American Gastroenterological Association ALCA – antilaminaribioside carbohydrate IgG antibodies AMCA – anti-mannobioside carbohydrate IgG antibodies anti-TNF - anti-tumor necrosis factor ASCA - anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae CAC - colitis-associated colorectal cancer CADASIL - cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy **CD** – Chron's disease **CIN** - chromosomal instability **CRC** – colorectal cancer CSC - cancer "stem cells" DCE – dye-spray chromoendoscopy DFS - disease-free survival **dMMR** – mismatch repair pathway defects ECCO - European Crohn's and Colitis Organization **GlcNAc** – *N*-acetylglucosamine **HD** – high definition **HGD** – high-grade dysplastic **IBD** – inflammatory bowel disease IgG – immunoglobulin G JAK – janus kinase LGD - low-grade dysplasia **MSI** - microsatellite instability **NBI** – narrow-band imaging **OS** - overall survival **pANCA** – perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody **PSC** – primarily sclerosing cholangitis **ROS** – reactive oxygen species **S1P** – sphingosine 1 phosphate SD - standard definition SCENIC - Surveillance for Colorectal Endoscopic Neoplasia detection and management in IBD patients

TCR – T cell receptor

UC - ulcerative Colitis

WLE – white light endoscopy

Table of contents

1. Agradecimentos i
2. Resumo ii
3. Abstract iv
4. List of abbreviations vi
5. Table of contents vii
1. Introduction 1
2. Objectives
3. Methods 2
4. Colitis-Associated Colorectal Cancer
4.1. Epidemiology and Risk factors
4.2. CAC Vs. Sporadic CRC: two distinct entities
4.2.1. Histology 5
4.2.2. Inflammatory Environment
4.2.3. Genomic Alterations
4.2.4. Intestinal Microbiome 8
4.2.5. Immunomodulation Therapy9
5. Clinical Management: the unmet needs
5.1. Prevention Strategies 10
5.1.1. Primary Prevention - Chemoprevention
5.1.2. Secondary Prevention - Cancer Screening and Surveillance
5.2. Prognostic Biomarkers 14
5.3. Can Glycomedicine have a role? 15
6. Conclusions
7. References

Introduction

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) – including Chron's disease (CD) and Ulcerative Colitis (UC) – constitutes a global public health challenge, associated with high morbidity, mortality and health-care costs^{5,6}. Overall, patients with IBD have higher risk of colorectal cancer (CRC) than healthy individuals, which is one of the most feared complications of the disease⁷⁻¹⁰.

Although the pathogenesis of colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) remains unclear, some risk factors have been identified, and it seems that the inflammatory burden is the most important^{11,12}. Therefore, a successful anti-inflammatory treatment, promoting high mucosal healing rates is essential in cancer prevention¹². However, as a life-long illness, IBD has periods of relapse and remission and some patients do not respond to treatment or lose the initial response, so the inflammatory burden differs between individuals with the same disease duration^{11,13-21}. Current therapies are based on anti-inflammatory drugs, immunomodulators and biologic agents that suppress the immune system but have undesired risks when used chronically²²⁻²⁴. Besides treatment, an important concern on this matter is cancer screening and surveillance, since the high mortality is partially due to diagnosis at late stages⁷. Colonic surveillance of IBD patients is highly recommended, in order to detect potentially resectable dysplastic lesions or potentially surgically curable early stage CAC, reducing its morbidity and mortality^{9,24-28}. Nevertheless, more than trying to prevent cancer by improving IBD treatment and surveillance, it is important to better understand the genetic and molecular profiles behind these cases' carcinogenesis, not only for development of effective early diagnosis, prevention and treatment strategies, but also for identifying prognostic biomarkers.

So far, it is known that CAC develops from an inflammatory non-dysplastic mucosa, which evolves into dysplasia, to invasive adenocarcinoma and the carcinogenic events differ from the typical adenoma-carcinoma sequence of sporadic CRC²⁹⁻³². Genomic alterations detected in sporadic CRC were also recognized in CAC, like Wnt/ β -Catenin pathway activation, p53 mutations and MYC amplification, but they differ significantly in frequency and in order on the sequence of carcinogenic events³³⁻³⁸. Moreover, considering that chronic inflammation secondary to chronic infection may lead to carcinogenesis, like what happens between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and gastric cancer³⁹⁻⁴¹, in IBD, the

intestinal microbiome may also contribute to carcinogenesis through its interaction with the host damaged mucosa, metabolism and immunity^{3,4}. Nevertheless, the immune and inflammatory response in IBD has definitely a key role in dysplasia and cancer development, since, prolonged over time, it leads to DNA damage⁴².

Regarding prognostic biomarkers, few molecules are possible candidates, but none has cost-effectiveness evidence supporting its active search in all patients. Glycans have been reported to change significantly in many diseases⁴³⁻⁴⁵ including IBD^{46,47} and cancer⁴⁸, so, it is likely that Glycomedicine research will yield future translational opportunities, including predict therapeutic response and find new immunomodulatory strategies for IBD treatment and CAC chemoprophylaxis.

Objectives

This scientific review aims to gadder the latest knowledge about the association between colorectal cancer and inflammatory bowel disease, highlighting the histological and molecular changes that differentiate these cases carcinogenesis from that of sporadic cancer, as well as the new diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers, underlining the importance that glycans and Glycomedicine have been gaining in this matter.

This work is framed in a review article prepared by the IPATIMUP/i3S research group on Immunology, Cancer and Glycomedicine, of which I am coauthor, and whose purpose is to serve as the scientific basis for an investigation intended to better understand the carcinogenesis related to inflammatory bowel disease and to identify biomarkers in each stage of evolution from inflammation, through various degrees of dysplasia, to carcinoma.

Methods

Review of scientific publications accessed, mainly, through the computerized PubMed database, using the keywords (MeSH terms of Index Medicus) 'Biomarkers', 'Carcinogenesis', 'Colitis-Associated Cancer', 'Colorectal Cancer', 'Glycans' e 'Inflammatory Bowel Disease'. Among the original and review articles published between 2008 and 2019, in English, I selected those considered of greater relevance and scientific rigor. Those articles references were also analyzed to possibly identify other publications to be included in the review.

COLITIS-ASSOCIATED COLORECTAL CANCER

Epidemiology and Risk factors

IBD – including CD and UC – constitutes a worldwide public health challenge, associated with high morbidity, mortality and health-care costs^{5,6}. During the 20th century, IBD was mainly a western disease, with incidence rising in USA, Canada, western Europe, Australia and New Zealand. However, in the 21st century, an epidemiological shift occurred: studies from 1990 to 2016 show that IBD incidence plateaued or decreased in the western world, and it is rapidly rising in the newly industrialized countries of Asia, Africa, eastern Europe and South America^{5,49-53}. This alteration might be due to a diminished exposure to some risk factors in western countries, that, oppositely, are increasing in the new industrialized society. Therefore, it is urgent to decipher which are the risk factors that could explain those geographical alterations⁵⁴.

The onset of IBD can occur in any age, but both CD and UC are most often diagnosed in late adolescence and early adulthood, between 15 and 35 years of age, with no gender predominance^{13,53,55,56}. In Europe, the estimated incidence of CD and UC range from 0.5 to 10.6 cases and 0.9 to 24.3 cases per 100,000 personyears, respectively. Despite the lowering trend in IBD incidence, the global disease burden remains high, which could be expectable considering the early age of onset and lower mortality due to improved treatment over the years. The estimated prevalence of IBD in Europe is around 0,3% – about 2.7 million people –, with 1.52– 213 cases of CD and 2.42-294 cases of UC per 100,000 persons. This translates into a direct annual healthcare cost of 4.6-5.6 billion euros. As in incidence, there also appears to be a north-west gradient in the prevalence of IBD^{6,53}. In Portugal, as well as in Europe, there are approximately 150 cases of IBD per 100,000 inhabitants, equally distributed by CD and UC, with a perception of increasing incidence; CD is more prevalent between 15 and 39 years of age, while UC highest prevalence ranges from 40 to 64 years of age; in both IBD entities, females are more affected⁵⁷.

CRC is one of the most feared complications of IBD. Although CAC accounts for a small percentage of all CRCs, it has worse prognosis, with 19% to 55% estimated 5-year survival rates, being responsible for 10-15% of annual deaths of IBD patients⁷⁻¹⁰. This high mortality is partially due to diagnosis at later stages – around 50% of CAC patients have nodal or distant metastases at presentation⁷ – and also because mean age at onset of CRC in patients with IBD (estimated to be 43.2 years⁵⁸) is about 14 years earlier than onset of sporadic cases^{10,13,38,59}.

In general, patients with IBD have higher risk of CRC than healthy individuals, but this ratio varies accordingly to each patient's characteristics. Epidemiologic studies are not fully consensual regarding the risk to develop CAC: most of them refer higher risk in UC than in CD cases, while some consider similar risk, especially when comparing CD involving the colon (as opposed to pure ileitis) to UC; others suggest a declining incidence of CRC in IBD patients over the last decade, while some found it stabilized. This can be attributed to differences in environmental factors, lifestyle and genetic susceptibility, or simply to studies design, insufficient study size, differences in diagnostic criteria or access to diagnostic procedures countries with the latest endoscopic imaging technology may have earlier detection of dysplastic lesions and CAC - and different treatment guidelines, including criteria for performing colectomy. Comparing the meta-analyses/cohort studies by Eaden et al. (2001)⁵⁸, Rutter et al. (2006)⁶⁰ and Jess et al. (2012)⁶¹, it seems that cumulative incidence of CRC according to UC duration has been diminishing in recent years. Jess et al. surprisingly did not find an increased incidence of CRC in UC cases compared to healthy controls, which may be attributable to the higher rates of colostomies in UC patients in Denmark⁶². Therefore, this apparent decreased incidence of CAC in developed countries over the years can be related to improved medical and surgical treatments.

Although the pathogenesis of CAC remains unclear, some risk factors have been identified: family history of CRC – increases risk of CRC as in individuals without IBD; inflammatory activity – persistently active IBD is associated with higher risk than predominantly quiescent cases; extent of affected mucosa – after 40 years of disease, risk of CRC is 10-15 fold increased in patients with pancolitis, and only 2 fold increased in patients with left sided colitis (ulcerative proctitis, where inflammation is most severe, seems to be the exception, in which CRC risk appears not to be significantly increased)^{13,14}; presence of inflammatory complications – like perianal abscess, anal fissure, colonic strictures or inflammatory pseudopolyps; and concomitant primarily sclerosing cholangitis (PSC)¹⁵⁻¹⁹ – these patients have increased risk of CRC, compared to those with IBD alone, even after liver transplant (the mechanism behind this is unclear)^{11,14}. Young age at diagnosis of IBD (<15

years) and longer disease duration are also reported as risk factors for CAC – estimated risk at 10, 20, and >20 years of disease is 1-3%, 2-8%, and 5-18%, with comparable risk associated with UC and CD^{58,63}. However, as a life-long illness, IBD course presents periods of relapse and remission, as well as variable therapy response, which can influence the inflammatory damage, that may differ between individuals with the same disease duration. A large single-centre study from 2017 showed that inflammatory burden in UC, estimated from a mean severity score calculated from all colonoscopies performed in preceding 5 years, was significantly associated with CAC risk, while the most recent colonoscopy evaluation alone was not¹¹. Importantly, it seems that the cumulative inflammatory activity, more than disease duration, is a determining risk factor for CAC development. In fact, there are evidences suggesting that CAC incidence decreases when there are efficient surveillance strategies and successful anti-inflammatory treatment (e.g. aminosalicylates [5-ASA]), promoting high mucosal healing rates¹².

Larger and well-designed studies are needed to quantify the real burden of the disease. Nevertheless, more than trying to prevent CAC by improving treatment and follow-up of patients with IBD, it is still important to better understand the genetic and molecular profiles behind dysplasia and cancer development, in order to identify individuals at higher risk, providing earlier chemoprevention and therapy.

CAC Vs. sporadic CRC: two distinct entities

HISTOLOGY

CAC's mechanisms of carcinogenesis remain unknown, but it is recognized that it develops from an inflammatory non-dysplastic mucosa, which evolves into dysplasia, to invasive adenocarcinoma, diverging from the typical adenomacarcinoma sequence of sporadic CRC. IBD dysplastic lesions are usually multiple and flat, and, unlike sporadic CRC exophytic lesions, are difficult to resect endoscopically, often requiring colectomy because the total extent of the precancerous area is difficult to determine²⁹⁻³².

High-grade dysplastic (HGD) lesions are strongly related to CAC development and an indication for colectomy^{64,65}, however, this approach is questionable in case of

low-grade dysplasia (LGD), because the progression rate to HGD or cancer is variable. Recently, it was shown that, among UC patients with LGD, the annual incidence of CRC is 0.8% and the risk of dysplasia progression increases if there is concomitant PSC and/or the lesions are multifocal, distally located or not macroscopically visible (flat)⁶⁶. In addition, other study demonstrated a high prevalence of aneuploidy in HGD lesions (93.3%), and an association between aneuploidy in LGD lesions and their progression to HGD or CRC (in 40.5% cases). Therefore, aneuploidy may constitute a prognostic marker, allowing better management of patients with LGD⁶⁷.

Two patterns of dysplasia with different natural histories can be found in IBD patients: adenoma-like dysplasia – in areas not yet affected by the disease, where carcinogenesis may be considered sporadic – and non-adenoma-like dysplasia – where carcinogenesis is associated with the underlying chronic inflammation. While the first may be treated with polypectomy, the second usually requires colectomy, considering its higher risk of concurrent malignancy. Although they are not easily distinguished endoscopically or histologically, the well characterized genetic and molecular profiles of CAC can allow differentiate it from sporadic CRC, improving patients' management³¹.

INFLAMMATORY ENVIRONMENT

The inflammatory environment of IBD has a key role in dysplasia and CRC development. In fact, some inflammation-associated genes (e.g. COX-2 and NOS-2) are overexpressed in IBD and in CAC⁴². Inflammation promotes releasing of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inflammatory mediators (IL-6, IL-10, IL-17, IL-23, TNF α , VEGF), causing oxidative stress, increased cell turnover, anti-apoptotic activity, neoangiogenesis, migration and invasion of tumor cells¹³. Moreover, the immune and inflammatory response prolonged over time leads to DNA damage, which results in chromosomal instability (CIN) and microsatellite instability (MSI). This fact explains the increased risk of CAC with duration, extension and degree of inflammation, and why it can be attenuated by an effective disease control. The reason why CAC risk appears not to be increased in ulcerative proctitis remains unclear^{13,14}.

GENOMIC ALTERATIONS

Genomic alterations detected in sporadic CRC were also recognized in CAC³³⁻³⁷. DNA hypermethylation, commonly detected in sporadic CRC, is also common in CAC, involving frequently MLH1 (up to 46%) and p16 (up to 100%), and can be found early, in chronically inflamed mucosa without visible dysplasia^{68,69}. However, other alterations differ in frequency and in order on the sequence of carcinogenic events. Recent studies^{37,38} found significant differences in genomic alterations in CAC tissues in comparison to the evidences reported about sporadic CRC in The Cancer Genome Atlas⁷⁰ and the Foundation Medicine database⁷¹:

- In sporadic CRC, Wnt/β-Catenin pathway activation is the initiating event in 90% of cases, mostly due to APC and K-RAS mutations, with early APC tumor suppressor protein loss of function (in dysplastic tissue) and later activation of K-RAS protein (in adenoma), that promotes NF-kB mediated cytokine secretion, associated with inflammatory response, increased ROS release, neovascularization, cancer growth, invasion and metastization. In CAC, these mutations are rarer and occur later: K-RAS amplification in 40% of cases, in HGD, and APC mutations in 21% of cases, later in the dysplasia-carcinoma sequence^{10,38}.
- p53 mutations occur late in sporadic CRC, during transition from adenoma to carcinoma, and are found in about 50% of cases⁷⁰, or up to 75% in advanced CRC⁷¹. But in CAC, p53 is the most commonly altered gene (in 63-89% of cases^{37,38}) and mutations occur early, in 50% of chronically inflamed patients before mucosal dysplasia develops^{10,13,33-38}. Mutant p53 loses the tumor suppressing function, allowing cytokine mediated DNA damage and prolonged TNFα-induced NF-kB activation. Actually, in mice harboring a germline p53 mutation, there is severe tissue damage and HGD, rapidly progressing to invasive carcinoma⁷².
- The most common copy number alteration in CAC is MYC amplification (in up to 26% of cases) – its constitutively upregulation leads to increased expression of many genes, some of which are involved in cell proliferation, contributing to the formation of cancer –, while in sporadic CRC it is rare (4%)^{38,70,71}.
- Several CAC cases have alterations in the Notch gene family (34%)³⁸, which proteins are transmembrane receptors implicated in a signaling pathway which regulates cell-to-cell interactions that influence many cell fate decisions in various cell types, important during fetal development of almost all organs and

tissues⁷³. There is no evidence in the literature of an association between notch mutations and CRC yet. However, other diseases and developmental changes are described to be associated with these mutations, such as Adams-Oliver, Alagille and Hajdu-Cheney syndromes, neurodegeneration, aortic valve disease, CADASIL (Cerebral Autosomal Dominant Arteriopathy With Subcortical Infarcts and Leukoencephalopathy), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia^{73,74}.

INTESTINAL MICROBIOME

Recent data reported that intestinal microbiome may support carcinogenesis through its interaction with the host damaged mucosa, metabolism and immunity^{3,4}. It is already well known that chronic inflammation secondary to chronic infection may lead to carcinogenesis – one example is the association between gastric cancer and *Helicobacter pylori* infection³⁹⁻⁴¹ – so, this possibility may also explain some of the CAC development.

The possible influence of commensal flora or specific bacteria in CAC risk was first suggested when it was noticed that mice raised under germ-free conditions or treated with antibiotics did not develop neither IBD or CAC and that, comparing genetically identical mice, cancer only occurred in some animal facilities^{75,76}.

Some studies show that CAC cases' microbiota differs from cancer-free controls^{4,77}, but the doubt remains if this difference is cause or consequence of the cancer. CRC patients have more frequently gut dysbiosis, namely increase of *Fusobacterium nucleatum* and decrease of butyrate-producing bacteria^{4,78-80}. In fact, several studies support a potential active role of *Fusobacterium*, specifically *F. nucleatum*, in CRC development⁸¹. Other pathogens have been suggested to be initial triggers in cancer development in several animal models, most of them opportunistic: *Escherichia coli, Enterococcus faecalis, Streptococcus gallolyticus and enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis*^{4,82,83}. A study comparing fecal bacterial diversity in CRC patients and healthy volunteers concluded that CRC patients had more *Bacteroides fragilis*, in contrast to healthy individuals microbiota, enriched in *B. vulgatus* and *B. uniformis*⁴. It is interesting to see that different *Bacteroides* strains may influence the host homeostasis in different ways, therefore, further studies are warranted to ascertain the impact of specific species strains from the gut in CRC pathogenesis.

There is no conclusive study showing that elimination of these specific organisms of the gastrointestinal tract prevents CRC⁸⁰. However, the possible influence of commensal flora in CRC risk might partially explain the rising incidence of CAC in the newly industrialized countries^{5,49-53}, with recently adopted western alimentary habits, since diet is directly related to microbiota composition (for example, highfat and low-fiber diet is associated with greater cancer risk, because it induces dysbiosis)⁸². It is important to consider that diet potentially alters IBD and CAC risk. Moreover, if new studies achieve significant results about specific microbes that are protective against CRC development, probiotics or even fecal transplantation could be considered as preventive measures.

IMMUNOMODULATION THERAPY

The current IBD therapies are based on anti-inflammatory drugs (5-ASA – sulfasalazine, mesalazine), immunomodulators (corticosteroids, thiopurines – azathioprine, 6-mercaptopurine – and methotrexate) and biologic agents (mainly anti-tumor necrosis factor [anti-TNF] agents – Adalimumab, Infliximab), which suppress the immune system and can also contribute to reduce the risk of CAC, depending on disease location and duration²²⁻²⁴. However, approximately 30% of patients do not respond to treatment and about 40% lose the initial response^{20,21}.

On the other hand, long term therapy with these agents is controversial, considering they may raise the risk of infections, including serious opportunistic infections, and promote carcinogenesis, due to reduced physiologic immunosurveillance of malignant cells²². The cancers considered secondary to chronic immunosuppression include mainly lymphomas and skin cancer, but also acute myeloid leukemia, myelodysplastic syndromes and urinary tract cancer^{22,84}. The risk to develop any of these types of cancer vary according to the immunosuppressing drug class and to the patient's age and gender. For example, thiopurines are associated with higher risk of postmononucleosis lymphoma and hepatosplenic T-cell lymphoma in younger males, but in older patients, they are more related to urinary tract cancers⁸⁵⁻⁸⁸. Moreover, while anti-TNF agents increase the risk of melanoma, thiopurines are associated with nonmelanocytic skin cancers^{22,89,90}. In fact, the impact of some drugs in promoting this differential risk susceptibility to develop cancer in specific tissues is not yet explained.

To date, new therapies are being approved, involving new drug mechanisms, with the goal of effective disease control with fewer negative effects and finding solutions for the high percentage of non-responders. These include anti-adhesion agents (Natalizumab, Vedolizumab, Ertolizumab, AJM 300 and PF-005476659), anti-interleukin inhibitors (Ustekinumab and Risankizumab), janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors (Tofacitinib and Filgotinib) and sphingosine 1 phosphate (S1P) receptor modulator (Ozanimod). Their main advantages include no increased risk of malignancy (except with Tofacitinib) and of serious infections (with Ertolizumab, AJM 300, PF-005476659, Risankizumab and Ozanimod), and a less invasive administration, such as the oral administration of JAK inhibitors¹.

Recently, it was described that a gene (SERPINE-1/PAI-1) linked to blood clotting is highly expressed at sites of intestinal inflammation and it is specific for IBD patients with active disease non-responders to biologics⁹¹. In addition, a new compound (MDI-2268) was developed to suppress that gene, which resulted in decrease of IBD symptoms in mice. Thus, this compound might be another new IBD treatment alternative with less undesirable risks⁹¹.

In conclusion, to properly manage each IBD patient, it is important to assess the benefit/risk ratio of long-term use of immunomodulators and biologic agents, considering patients' age, gender and disease phenotype. On the other hand, besides new drugs' advantages and how promising they seem, it is important to consider that few have been available for some years (like Natalizumab), and others are new or still in development, so, their long-term efficacy and safety are not well known yet¹.

CLINICAL MANAGEMENT: THE UNMET NEEDS

Prevention Strategies

Prevention consists of a series of measures taken to avoid disease or its burden, defined according to successive stages of primary, secondary and tertiary prevention⁹².

PRIMARY PREVENTION - CHEMOPREVENTION

The most striking preventive measure is primary prevention, which aims to avoid the onset of diseases. Translating to CAC, considering the increasing evidence that chronic inflammation favor's the development of cancer in IBD, improved mucosal healing with 5-ASA, immunomodulators or biologics may prevent it⁹³.

Most evidence comes from observational studies of chemoprevention in UC using 5-ASA, which effects may go beyond inflammation control⁹⁴. 5-ASA, including sulfasalazine and mesalazine, are the most commonly prescribed antiinflammatory drugs in IBD and, despite some conflicting evidence, data suggests that they may confer protection against the development of colonic neoplasia⁹³, as recently shown in a systematic review with meta-analysis⁹⁵.

Thiopurines (azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine) – immunomodulators which inhibit purine synthesis – have demonstrated efficacy in a broad range of IBD complications. Once again, there is conflicting data regarding the chemoprophylactic effect of these drugs on dysplasia and CAC development, but the most recent studies suggest a trend toward a protective effect^{24,96,97}.

The evidence on the chemoprevention role of anti-TNF (infliximab and adalimumab) is even more scarce. Although animal models suggested that these biologic agents may prevent the development or progression of dysplasia and cancer⁹⁸, only a few population-based studies within IBD have shown a lower frequency of colorectal cancer among those treated with infliximab^{99,100}.

SECONDARY PREVENTION - CANCER SCREENING AND SURVEILLANCE

Assuming a key role as well, secondary prevention seeks to identify and treat diseases in the earliest stages before the onset of signs and symptoms. CRC screening programs have shown to reduce its incidence and related mortality¹⁰¹. In IBD patients, surveillance colonoscopy also achieved positive outcomes regarding CAC prevention^{24,26,27}.

Considering that IBD patients present higher risk of developing CRC, even though the reported risk estimates vary widely between studies, colonic surveillance is highly recommended⁹, in order to detect potentially resectable dysplastic lesions or potentially surgically curable early stage CRC, reducing its morbidity and mortality^{9,24-28}. However, mortality reduction due to periodic follow-up has not been clearly established¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁵, which means that better techniques and surveillance programs are needed. Doubts remain regarding the best endoscopic technique and the right timing in which surveillance colonoscopies should be performed.

The usual IBD surveillance method has been, for more than thirty years, standard definition (SD) colonoscopy with targeted and random biopsies every 10cm throughout the colon^{25,31,66}. However, this technique inspects less than 5% of all the mucosal surface¹⁰⁶ and a large retrospective analysis reviewing 1010 colonoscopies during ten years of surveillance quantified a small rate of dysplasia detection (0.19)¹⁰⁷. With high definition (HD) endoscopes and monitors, dysplasia detection increased three-fold^{28,108}, which changed these patients' management, favoring more conservative approaches regarding colectomy¹⁰⁸.

On the other hand, using the traditional white light endoscopy (WLE), dysplastic lesions may be macroscopically visible (adenoma-like) or invisible (non-adenoma-like/flat lesions)^{31,109}, but some of those invisible lesions, which have higher risk of concurrent malignancy^{31,110,111}, are identified in dye-spray chromoendoscopy (DCE)^{25,31,66}. In fact, the diagnostic reliability of WLE is defied in a recent review, which found a sensitivity of only 76% for this technique¹¹², while another study revealed that DCE increases dysplasia detection sensitivity¹¹³⁻¹¹⁷, showing a detection rate of 9.3% with WLE, and of 21.3% with both WLE and DCE¹¹⁸. Taking into consideration the DCE success and its operational barriers, this technique was sought to be mimicked without the use of dye. Thus, virtual chromoendoscopy appears, facilitating the visualization of tissue abnormalities by filtration of some wavelengths of light – narrow-band imaging (NBI). However, compared to conventional WLE and DCE, the advantages of NBI are controversial¹¹⁹⁻¹²¹.

To date, the most recent SCENIC (Surveillance for Colorectal Endoscopic Neoplasia detection and management in IBD patients: International Consensus¹²² – endorsed by American Gastroenterological Association [AGA] and other societies in North America, Europe and Asia) recommendations advocate the use of HD – rather than SD – colonoscopy, and DCE – rather than WLE or NBI –, with targeted biopsies of all identified lesions only^{28,64,110,111,122,123}, as chromoendoscopy allows more targeted biopsies and diminishes the necessity for random ones¹²². Therefore, if there are no limitations of the diagnostic efficiency (poor preparation, presence of post-inflammatory polyps or active mucosal inflammation), random biopsies on macroscopically normal lumen are not recommended^{111,124}. Alternatively, when

resources and expertise for performing chromoendoscopy are not available, HD WLE with random biopsies is accepted^{110,122,123}.

Even though most of the evidence favor's DCE as the gold standard technique for IBD patients' surveillance, this may change in the future, since there is recent conflicting data. Two studies from the past 2 years presented similar dysplasia detection rates and shorter withdrawal times for HD colonoscopy and NBI, when compared to DCE^{125,126}. Future studies are needed to answer the remaining questions concerning practical aspects, like the cost-effectiveness of the different procedures and the real and long-term impact of modern techniques utilization to increase dysplasia detection on overall CAC mortality.

Regarding the timing of screening, the different programs are similar. When comparing the most recent guidelines from AGA¹¹⁰ and form European Crohn's and Colitis Organization (ECCO)¹²³, both recommend commence surveillance 8 years after onset of symptoms (not the official IBD diagnose moment), with the exception that, according to AGA, patients with concomitant PSC should undergo annual surveillance starting from the time of diagnosis. AGA recommends 1-2 years interval between colonoscopies and, after 2 negative exams, it can be extended to 1-3 years, while ECCO recommendations regarding surveillance intervals range from 1-5 years, depending on the individual risk stratification: once a year for high risk patients, every 2-3 years for intermediate risk and every 5 years for low risk patients^{110,123}.

Alarmingly, a 16 years' study, including seven university medical centers in The Netherlands, demonstrated that a substantial part of all CACs occur before colonic surveillance should start according to these guidelines². They found out that CAC could appear between 0 to 45 years since IBD diagnosis and that 17% of patients developed cancer before the first surveillance². In conclusion, strict adherence to these guidelines will lead to late detection of some early cancers, which may reduce the efficacy of colonic surveillance in IBD and explain why there is no mortality reduction associated with it. It is necessary to rethink if initial screening colonoscopy should be recommended before 8 years of disease duration for all IBD patients, to reassess disease extent, as colitis may progress over time.

Prognostic Biomarkers

Greater knowledge about the pathogenesis of CAC at the molecular level is needed not only for development of effective early diagnosis, prevention and treatment strategies, but also for predicting therapy response and identifying prognostic biomarkers. So far, there are very few molecules proposed to be possible prognostic biomarkers and none has cost-effectiveness evidence supporting its active search in all IBD patients.

As previously mentioned, the percentage of IBD patients that do not respond to treatment or lose the initial response is high^{20,21}. Regarding CRC, there is also a significative resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs^{127,128} which is one of the major reasons for the increased mortality. A very recent study¹²⁸ showed that cancer "stem cells" (CSCs) – a subset of cancer cells linked to chemoresistance^{129,130} – that express CD44v6 – a CD44 (cell-surface glycoprotein involved in cell-to-cell interaction, adhesion, and migration¹³¹) variant – are associated with more aggressive CRC phenotype, with higher cellular self-renewal capacity and metastatic potential^{132,133}, increased resistance to chemotherapeutic agents and, therefore, lower disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS). In fact, inhibition of CD44v6 resulted in resensitization to chemotherapy and diminished self-renewal capacity of CSCs. In those CD44v6+ cells, a distinct panel of miRNAs with dysregulated profiles was noted, with miR-1246 upregulation being particularly related to the enhanced tumorigenicity. This suggests that specific miRNAs, like miR-1246, may represent potential prognostic biomarkers and therapeutic candidates to target CSCs^{134,135}.

Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis reported that, without any adjustment for molecular subtypes, the overall 5-year survival of CAC does not differ from sporadic CRC¹³⁶. Another recent study¹³⁷ demonstrated that different cancer mutational patterns have an impact on survival outcomes. It showed that proximally located CRC is related to higher mutational rates, associated with mismatch repair pathway defects (dMMR), mostly due to MLH1 protein loss of expression. Patients with these types of cancer had a significantly better survival rate, compared with non-hypermutated ones. Moreover, this study found that the increased survival of sporadic CRC cases with MSI¹³⁸ has also been observed in CAC. The neo-epitopes generated by the high mutational rate cause an anti-tumor infiltrating lymphocytes response that is thought to have an important role in the improved survival of these dMMR/MSI cancers¹³⁷.

Additionally, it would be interesting to consider an analogous molecular profiling for CAC as used in gastric cancer, considering that both are inflammationassociated¹³⁹. Thus, future studies are required to determine whether combinatory analysis of p53 alterations – the most commonly altered gene in CAC^{37,38} – and MLH1 loss of expression in the biopsies' tissue taken during IBD patients colonoscopic surveillance could identify patients with higher risk of developing CAC¹³⁹.

Overall, there is an urgent need for recognizing the molecular landscape behind CAC. Information concerning prognostic biomarkers is scarce, and new studies are needed in this area, to clarify the different treatment responses and help clinicians give a more reliable prognostic estimate to patients.

Can Glycomedicine have a role?

Most extracellular and membrane proteins are glycosylated, and glycosylation alterations significantly affect the protein structure and function^{141,142}. The cellular profile of glycans has been reported to change significantly in various diseases⁴³⁻⁴⁵ including IBD^{46,47} and cancer⁴⁸, so it is likely that Glycomedicine research will yield future translational opportunities.

Particularly, complex branched *N*-glycans are known to play key roles in many glycoproteins in cancer^{48,143-145} and in autoimmune disorders^{146,147}, through T cell activation (via T cell receptor [TCR] signaling) and function. Mucosal T lymphocytes from patients with active UC were previously shown to display a deficiency in branched *N*-glycosylation, and mice models with absence of this type of glycans develop early-onset and severe disease¹⁴⁸. The i3s research group recently demonstrated in human *ex vivo* models that supplementation of mucosal T cells (isolated from patients with active UC) with *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) lead to an enhancement of branched *N*-glycosylation on the TCR, which was associated with more controlled T cell-mediated immune response. Nonetheless, mice with severe colitis treated with GlcNAc revealed a clinical improvement, namely better clinical scores and suppression of disease progression¹⁴⁸. These results repurposed GlcNAc as an inexpensive and nontoxic targeted-specific immunomodulatory strategy for IBD treatment, and eventually a potential chemoprophylaxis agent to primary prevention of CAC.

Remarkably, glycans can also be useful for IBD prognosis. Recently, the i3s research group showed that they can discriminate, early in the disease course, which patients are most likely to develop severe colitis and fail to respond to standard therapy, benefiting from other therapeutic strategies initially (e.g. biologics). This study demonstrated that low levels of branched *N*-glycans around time of diagnosis is an independent predictor of non-response to conventional therapy with 75% of specificity, and, correspondingly, high levels of branched *N*-glycans exclusively under 5-ASA treatment with more than 5 years disease¹⁴⁹.

Other interesting serologic markers that can differentiate CD from UC and help determine the course of the disease are anti-glycan antibodies - like antimannobioside carbohydrate IgG antibodies (AMCA), anti-chitobioside carbohydrate IgA (ACCA) and antilaminaribioside carbohydrate IgG antibodies (ALCA) -, alone or anti-*Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (ASCA) combined with and perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (pANCA), which can be seen in a subgroup of patients with IBD¹⁵⁰⁻¹⁵². High levels of these antibodies can be related with a high probability to develop complicated IBD, leading to increased risk of IBD-related surgery, as shown in a recent study, that found anti-glycan antibodies, especially AMCA, to be valuable biomarkers to promptly classify patients into high risk for severe disease¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵³. Another recent study investigated the same antibodies pANCA, ASCA, AMCA, ACCA and ALCA - in newly diagnosed, untreated IBD patients, concerning disease phenotype and course, and analyzed their presence over time. This study concluded that anti-glycans may fluctuate under the influence of immunosuppressive treatment, which is congruent with the hypothesis that they may be risk biomarkers. Also, it showed that antibody profiles at diagnosis, namely pANCA and ASCA, enable good discrimination between CD (ASCA+, pANCA-) and UC (ASCA-, pANCA+), and that pANCA status over time is associated with UC activity, having the potential to be used in disease monitoring¹⁵⁴. A metaanalysis/systemic review designed to evaluate the diagnostic value of anti-glycan biomarkers and their association with IBD complications and need for surgery, confirmed these results, concluding that ASCA had the highest diagnostic value for differentiating IBD from no disease and CD from UC, and that ACCA had the highest association with complications. Moreover, it showed that combination of 2 markers had a better diagnostic value as well as higher association with complications and need for surgery than any individual marker alone¹⁵⁵.

It is also known that immunoglobulin G (IgG) Fc-glycosylation levels affects IgG effector functions. Interestingly, IgG in mice can have pro-and anti-inflammatory activity, depending on its glycosylation status^{156,157}. A recent retrospective analysis of plasma samples from patients with IBD and healthy individuals (controls), found an association between IgG Fc-glycosylation levels with disease and its clinical features: patients with IBD had lower levels of IgG glycosylation than controls, namely low galactoslation, which was associated with more severe CD or UC and related to the need for surgery¹⁵⁸. This brings to light the possibility of a minimally invasive biomarker for IBD, by measuring serum protein glycosylation levels.

In conclusion, this new era of glycomics revealed a new window of opportunities for the management of IBD patients and consequently, prevention of CAC. The promising role of Glycomedicine, namely, new serological biomarkers in stratification of patients according to disease phenotype and risk of complications, can restructure the actual prevention programs by helping predict the disease course and therapeutic response.

Conclusions

Despite the lowering trend in IBD incidence, the global disease burden remains high. Epidemiologic studies are not fully consensual regarding the risk to develop CAC, nevertheless, it is one of the most feared complications of IBD, being responsible for 10–15% of annual patients' deaths⁷⁻¹⁰ and this high mortality is due to cancer early onset and late diagnosis^{7,10,13,38,58,59}.

The pathogenesis of CAC remains unclear, but the inflammatory burden seems to have a key role^{11,12}. Although there is conflicting data about the chemoprophylactic effect of 5-ASAs and thiopurines, recent studies suggest they are protective^{24,96,97}. The evidence about anti-TNF on cancer prevention is more scarce⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰. Alarmingly, though these therapies may reduce the risk of CAC²²⁻²⁴, chronically, they raise the risk of infections and promote carcinogenesis²², so, to properly manage patients, it is important to assess the benefit/risk ratio of longterm use of these drugs. To date, new therapies are being approved to find solutions for the high percentage of non-responders^{20,21}, which is a great clinicians' concern. Their main advantages include less undesired risks, in addition to less invasive administration^{1,91}. Besides how promising these drugs seem, they are recent or still in development, so, their long-term efficacy and safety are not well known yet¹.

Also regarding CAC prevention, colonic surveillance is highly recommended⁹. The most recent guidelines advocate the use of HD DCE, with targeted biopsies of all identified lesions only (SCENIC)^{28,64,110,111,122,123}, and commence surveillance 8 years after onset of symptoms, with 1-2 years (AGA) or 1-5 years interval (ECCO)^{110,123}. However, doubts remain regarding the best technique and right timing in which colonoscopies should be performed, since some CACs occurred before colonic surveillance started², which may explain why there is no mortality reduction with surveillance¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁵. Future studies are needed to clarify the remaining doubts, like the real long-term impact of improved dysplasia detection on overall CAC mortality.

Greater knowledge about CAC's pathogenesis at the molecular level is needed, for effective early diagnosis, prevention, treatment and prognosis. Though new discoveries about CAC carcinogenesis have recently been made, it remains incompletely understood. So far, it is known that CAC develops from an inflammatory non-dysplastic mucosa, that evolves into dysplasia, to invasive adenocarcinoma, which differs from the typical adenoma-carcinoma sequence of sporadic CRC. In fact, recent studies showed that HGD lesions are strongly related to CAC development^{64,65}, and that LGD lesions have higher risk of progression if the patient has concomitant PSC, if there is high prevalence of aneuploidy and/or the lesions are multifocal, distal or flat^{66,67}. Other studies found that some inflammation-associated genes are overexpressed in IBD and in CAC⁴² and that the chronic immune and inflammatory response leads to DNA damage, explaining the increased cancer risk with duration, extension and degree of inflammation. The reason why CAC risk appears not to be increased in ulcerative proctitis remains unclear^{13,14}. The genomic alterations detected in sporadic CRC were also recognized in CAC³³⁻³⁷, but with significant differences, for example, in CAC Wnt/β-Catenin pathway activation is rarer and occurs later^{10,13,33-38}. Another interesting finding was the percentage of CAC cases with alterations in the Notch gene family (34%)³⁸, since, though other diseases and developmental changes are associated with these mutations, there is no evidence in the literature of an association with CRC yet^{73,74}.

The possibility of an intestinal microbiome' role in carcinogenesis was supported recently^{3,4}, since CRC patients have more gut dysbiosis than healthy individuals, namely increase of *F. nucleatum*, decrease of butyrate-producing bacteria^{4,78-80}, and more *B. fragilis*, in contrast to healthy individuals microbiota, enriched in *B. vulgatus* and *B. uniformis*⁴. Therefore, further studies are needed to establish the impact of specific species strains in CRC pathogenesis and discover microbes that may be protective against CRC development, so that probiotics or even fecal transplantation could be considered as potential preventive measures.

Regarding disease biomarkers, recent studies found some candidates. Specific miRNAs may help in prognosis and treatment, since a distinct panel of miRNAs with dysregulated profiles was noted in CSCs CD44v6+, cells associated with more aggressive cancer phenotype and chemotherapy resistance^{128,134,135}. Also, high dMMR/MSI mutational rates are associated with improved survival¹³⁷. Glycomedicine seems very promising in this matter. Recent studies showed that levels of branched *N*-glycans¹⁴⁹ and anti-glycan antibodies (AMCA, ACCA and ALCA)^{150–153,155} can constitute early prognostic biomarkers and that GlcNAc can be an inexpensive and nontoxic targeted-specific immunomodulatory strategy for IBD treatment and CAC chemoprophylaxis¹⁵⁹. IgG Fc-glycosylation levels were also associated with IBD and its clinical features, since low galactoslation was associated

with more severe disease phenotype¹⁵⁸, raising the possibility of a minimally invasive biomarker, by measuring serum protein glycosylation levels.

Though information about biomarkers is scarce, this new era of glycomics opens a new window of opportunities, since Glycomedicine may find new serological biomarkers to help in patients' stratification according to IBD phenotype and risk of complications, by helping predict the disease course and therapeutic response.

References

- 1. Chudy-Onwugaje, K. O., Christian, K. E., Farraye, F. A. & Cross, R. K. A Stateof-the-Art Review of New and Emerging Therapies for the Treatment of IBD. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 1-11 (2018). doi:10.1093/ibd/izy327
- 2. Lutgens, M. W. M. D. *et al.* High frequency of early colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* **57**, 1246-1251 (2008).
- 3. Grivennikov, S. I. *et al.* Adenoma-linked barrier defects and microbial products drive IL-23/IL-17-mediated tumour growth. *Nature* **491**, 254–258 (2012).
- 4. Wang, T. *et al.* Structural segregation of gut microbiota between colorectal cancer patients and healthy volunteers. *ISME J.* **6**, 320-329 (2012).
- 5. Kaplan, G. G. The global burden of IBD: From 2015 to 2025. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **12**, 720-727 (2015).
- 6. Burisch, J., Jess, T., Martinato, M. & Lakatos, P. L. The burden of inflammatory bowel disease in Europe. *J. Crohn's Colitis* 7, 322-337 (2013).
- 7. Kavanagh, D. O. *et al.* Management of colorectal cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Tech. Coloproctol.* **18**, 23–28 (2013).
- 8. Averboukh, F. *et al.* Colorectal carcinoma in inflammatory bowel disease: A comparison between Crohn's and ulcerative colitis. *Color. Dis.* **13**, 1230-1236 (2011).
- 9. Fornaro, R. *et al.* Colorectal Cancer in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: The Need for a Real Surveillance Program. *Clin. Colorectal Cancer* **15**, 204-212 (2016).
- 10. Potack, J. & Itzkowitz, S. H. Colorectal Cancer in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gut Liver* **2**, 61-73 (2008).
- Choi, C.-H. R. *et al.* Cumulative burden of inflammation predicts colorectal neoplasia risk in ulcerative colitis: A large single-centre study. *Gut* 1-9 (2017). doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314190
- 12. Kekilli, M. *et al.* Low incidence of colorectal dysplasia and cancer among patients with ulcerative colitis: A Turkish referral centre study. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* **45**, 434-439 (2010).
- 13. Rogler, G. Chronic ulcerative colitis and colorectal cancer. *Cancer Lett.* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.07.032
- 14. Dulai, P. S., Sandborn, W. J. & Gupta, S. Colorectal cancer and dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease. A review of disease epidemiology, pathophysiology and management.pdf. **9**, 887–894 (2017).
- 15. Navaneethan, U. *et al.* Temporal trends in colon neoplasms in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis. *J. Crohn's Colitis* **6**, 845-851 (2012).
- 16. Hirschfield, G. M., Karlsen, T. H., Lindor, K. D. & Adams, D. H. Primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Lancet* 1-13 (2013). doi:10.1016/B978-0-323-47874-8.00017-1
- 17. Karlsen, T. H. & Boberg, K. M. Update on primary sclerosing cholangitis. *J. Hepatol.* **59**, 571-582 (2013).

- Singh, S. & Talwalkar, J. A. Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis Diagnosis, Prognosis and Management. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 11, 898-907 (2013).
- 19. Chaparro, M. *et al.* Dysplasia and colorectal cancer in a patient with ulcerative colitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis: A case report and a short review of the literature. *J. Crohn's Colitis* 7, e61–e65 (2013).
- 20. Ben-Horin, S. & Chowers, Y. Review article: Loss of response to anti-TNF treatments in Crohn's disease. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* **33**, 987-995 (2011).
- 21. Yanai, H. & Hanauer, S. B. Assessing response and loss of response to biological therapies in IBD. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **106**, 685-698 (2011).
- 22. Beaugerie, L. & Kirchgesner, J. Balancing Benefit vs Risk of Immunosuppressive Therapy for individual patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 1–10 (2018). doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2018.07.013
- 23. Carrat, F. *et al.* Risk of Colorectal High-Grade Dysplasia and Cancer in a Prospective Observational Cohort of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2013). doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.03.044
- 24. Gordillo, J. *et al.* Thiopurine Therapy Reduces the Incidence of Colorectal Neoplasia in Patients with Ulcerative Colitis. Data from the ENEIDA Registry. *J. Crohns. Colitis* (2015). doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv145
- 25. Galanopoulos, M. *et al.* Screening and surveillance methods for dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease patients: Where do we stand? *World J. Gastrointest. Endosc.* **10**, 250-258 (2018).
- 26. Hata, K. *et al.* Surveillance Colonoscopy for Ulcerative Colitis-Associated Colorectal Cancer Offers Better Overall Survival in Real-World Surgically Resected Cases. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **114**, 483-489 (2019).
- 27. Ananthakrishnan, A. N. *et al.* Colonoscopy is associated with a reduced risk for colon cancer and mortality in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **13**, 322-329.e1 (2015).
- 28. Maaser, C. *et al.* ECCO-ESGAR Guideline for Diagnostic Assessment in IBD Part 1. *J. Crohn's Colitis* (2018). doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy113
- 29. Zisman, T. L. *et al.* Prospective study of the progression of low-grade dysplasia in ulcerative colitis using current cancer surveillance guidelines. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* **18**, 2240-2246 (2012).
- 30. Cairns, S. R. *et al.* Guidelines for colorectal cancer screening and surveillance in moderate and high risk groups (update from 2002). *Gut* **59**, 666-690 (2010).
- Chen, Y. X. & Qiao, L. Adenoma-like and non-adenoma-like dysplasiaassociated lesion or mass in ulcerative colitis. *J. Dig. Dis.* 14, 157-159 (2013).
- 32. Rutter, M. D. & Riddell, R. H. Colorectal dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease: A clinicopathologic perspective. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **12**, 359-367 (2014).
- 33. Beaugerie L, I. S. Cancers complicating inflammatory bowel disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **372**, 194-195 (2015).

- 34. Ullman, T. A. & Itzkowitz, S. H. Intestinal inflammation and cancer. *Gastroenterology* **140**, 1807-1816 (2011).
- 35. Triantafillidis, J. K., Nasioulas, G. & Kosmids, P. A. Colorectal Cancer and Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis and Prevention Strategies. *Anticancer Res.* **29**, 2727–2738 (2009).
- Kim, E. R. & Chang, D. K. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: The risk, pathogenesis, prevention and diagnosis. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 20, 9872-9881 (2014).
- 37. Robles, A. I. *et al.* Whole-exome Sequencing analyses of Inflammatory Bowel Disease-associated Colorectal Cancers. *Gastroenterology* **150**, 931–943 (2016).
- Yaeger, R. *et al.* Genomic Alterations Observed in Colitis-associated Cancers are Distinct from Those Found in Sporadic Colorectal Cancers and Vary by Type of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* 151, 278-287 (2016).
- 39. Wu, C. Y. *et al.* Effective reduction of gastric cancer risk with regular use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in Helicobacter pylori-infected patients. *J. Clin. Oncol.* (2010). doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.26.0695
- 40. Bartchewsky, W. *et al.* Effect of Helicobacter pylori infection on IL-8, IL-1β and COX-2 expression in patients with chronic gastritis and gastric cancer. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* **44**, 153–161 (2009).
- 41. Ishaq, S. & Nunn, L. Helicobacter pylori and gastric cancer: A state of the art review. *Gastroenterol. Hepatol. From Bed to Bench* **8**, S6-S14 (2015).
- 42. Hussain, S. P. *et al.* Increased p53 mutation load in noncancerous colon tissue from ulcerative colitis: A cancer-prone chronic inflammatory disease. *Cancer Res.* **60**, 3333-3337 (2000).
- 43. Vučkovïc, F. *et al.* Association of systemic lupus erythematosus with decreased immunosuppressive potential of the IgG glycome. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* **67**, 2978–2989 (2015).
- 44. Häuselmann, I. & Borsig, L. Altered Tumor-Cell Glycosylation Promotes Metastasis. *Front. Oncol.* **4**, 1-15 (2014).
- 45. Vučković, F. *et al.* Immunoglobulin G glycome in colorectal cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **22**, 3078-3086 (2016).
- 46. Shinzaki, S. *et al.* IgG oligosaccharide alterations are a novel diagnostic marker for disease activity and the clinical course of inflammatory bowel disease. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **103**, 1173-1181 (2008).
- 47. Dias, A. M. *et al.* Dysregulation of T Cell Receptor N-glycosylation: a molecular mechanism involved in Ulcerative Colitis. (2013).
- 48. Pinho, S. S. & Reis, C. A. Glycosylation in cancer: Mechanisms and clinical implications. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **15**, 540-555 (2015).
- 49. Kaplan, G. G. & Ng, S. C. Understanding and Preventing the Global Increase of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2016). doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2016.10.020
- 50. Molodecky, N. A. *et al.* Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review.

Gastroenterology 142, 46-54 (2012).

- 51. Frolkis, A. *et al.* Environment and the inflammatory bowel diseases. *Can J Gastroenterol.* **27**, e18-e24 (2013).
- 52. Ng, S. C. *et al.* Incidence and phenotype of inflammatory bowel disease based on results from the Asia-Pacific Crohn's and colitis epidemiology study. *Gastroenterology* **145**, 158–165 (2013).
- 53. Ng, S. C. *et al.* Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies. *Lancet* 1–10 (2017). doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32448-0
- 54. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The Health Consequences of Smoking—50 Years of Progress. A Report of the Surgeon General. *A Rep. Surg. Gen.* (2014). doi:NBK179276
- 55. Shivashankar, R., Tremaine, W. J., Harmsen, W. S. & Loftus, E. V. Incidence and Prevalence of Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis in Olmsted County, Minnesota From 1970 Through 2010. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **15**, 857-863 (2017).
- 56. Sairenji, T., Collins, K. L. & Evans, D. V. An Update on Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Prim. Care Clin. Off. Pract.* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.pop.2017.07.010
- 57. Cotter, J. Doença inflamatória intestinal realidade atual. *J. Médico* 40 (2016).
- 58. Eaden, J. A., Abrams, K. R. & Mayberry, J. F. The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gut* **48**, 526-535 (2001).
- 59. Keller, D. S., Windsor, A., Cohen, R. & Chand, M. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: review of the evidence. *Tech. Coloproctol.* **0**, 0 (2019).
- 60. Rutter, M. D. *et al.* Thirty-Year Analysis of a Colonoscopic Surveillance Program for Neoplasia in Ulcerative Colitis. *Gastroenterology* **130**, 1030– 1038 (2006).
- 61. Jess, T., Rungoe, C. & Peyrin-Biroulet, L. Risk of Colorectal Cancer in Patients With Ulcerative Colitis: A Meta-analysis of Population-Based Cohort Studies. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **10**, 639–645 (2012).
- 62. Winther, K. V., Jess, T., Langholz, E., Munkholm, P. & Binder, V. Long-term risk of cancer in ulcerative colitis: A population-based cohort study from Copenhagen County. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2**, 1088–1095 (2004).
- 63. Lutgens, M. W. M. D. *et al.* Declining risk of colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: an updated meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* **19**, 789–799 (2013).
- 64. Van Assche, G. *et al.* Second European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis Part 3: Special situations. *J. Crohn's Colitis* 7, 1-33 (2013).
- 65. McCabe, R. P. *et al.* AGA Medical Position Statement on the Diagnosis and Management of Colorectal Neoplasia in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* **138**, 738-745 (2010).
- 66. Fumery, M. *et al.* Incidence, Risk Factors, and Outcomes of Colorectal Cancer in Patients with Ulcerative Colitis with Low-Grade Dysplasia: A

Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* **15**, 665-674 (2017).

- 67. Tsai, J. H. *et al.* Association of Aneuploidy and Flat Dysplasia With Development of High-Grade Dysplasia or Colorectal Cancer in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* **153**, 1492-1495.e4 (2017).
- 68. Koizumi, K. *et al.* Array-based identification of common DNA methylation alterations in ulcerative colitis. *Int. J. Oncol.* **40**, 983-994 (2012).
- 69. Katsurano, M. *et al.* Early-stage formation of an epigenetic field defect in a mouse colitis model, and non-essential roles of T-and B-cells in DNA methylation induction. *Oncogene* **31**, 342–351 (2012).
- 70. Muzny, D. M. *et al.* Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. *Nature* **487**, 330-337 (2012).
- 71. Ross, J. S. *et al.* Comprehensive genomic profiling of clinically advanced colorectal carcinoma to reveal frequent opportunities for targeted therapies. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **33**, 3553 (2015).
- 72. Cooks, T. *et al.* Mutant p53 prolongs NF-kappaB activation and promotes chronic inflammation and inflammation-associated colorectal cancer. *Cancer Cell* **23**, 634-646 (2013).
- 73. Andersson, E. R., Sandberg, R. & Lendahl, U. Notch signaling: simplicity in design, versatility in function. *Development* **138**, 3593-3612 (2011).
- 74. Simpson, M. A. *et al.* Mutations in NOTCH2 cause Hajdu-Cheney syndrome, a disorder of severe and progressive bone loss. *Nat. Genet.* **43**, 303–305 (2011).
- 75. Abreu, M. T. & Peek, R. M. Gastrointestinal Malignancy and the Microbiome. *Gastroenterology* **146**, 1534-1546 (2014).
- 76. Irrazábal T, Belcheva A, Girardin SE, Martin A, P. D. The multifaceted role of the intestinal microbiota in colon cancer. *Mol. Cell* **54**, 309-320 (2014).
- 77. Castellarin, M. *et al.* Fusobacterium nucleatum infection is prevalent in human colorectal carcinoma. *Genome Res.* **22**, 299-306 (2012).
- Chen, W., Liu, F., Ling, Z., Tong, X. & Xiang, C. Human intestinal lumen and mucosa-associated microbiota in patients with colorectal cancer. *PLoS One* 7, (2012).
- 79. Xiong, Y. B., Zhu, H. R., Cheng, Y. L., Yu, Z. H. & Chai, N. Human gut microbiome and risk for colorectal cancer. *JNCI* **105**, 1907–1911 (2013).
- 80. Yoon, H. *et al.* Comparisons of Gut Microbiota Among Healthy Control, Patients With Conventional Adenoma, Sessile Serrated Adenoma, and Colorectal Cancer. *J. cancer Prev.* **22**, 108-114 (2017).
- 81. Hussan, H., Clinton, S. K., Roberts, K. & Bailey, M. T. Fusobacterium's link to colorectal neoplasia sequenced: A systematic review and future insights. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **23**, 8626-8650 (2017).
- 82. Park, C. H., Eun, C. S. & Han, D. S. Intestinal microbiota, chronic inflammation, and colorectal cancer. *Intest. Res.* 16, 338-345 (2018).
- Yu, L. C.-H., Wei, S.-C. & Ni, Y.-H. Impact of microbiota in colorectal carcinogenesis: lessons from experimental models. *Intest. Res.* 16, 346-357 (2018).

- 84. Axelrad, J. E., Lichtiger, S. & Yajnik, V. Inflammatory bowel disease and cancer: The role of inflammation, immunosuppression, and cancer treatment. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **22**, 4794-4801 (2016).
- 85. Pasternak, B., Svanström, H., Schmiegelow, K., Jess, T. & Hviid, A. Use of azathioprine and the risk of cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* **177**, 1296-1305 (2013).
- 86. Bourrier, A. *et al.* Excess risk of urinary tract cancers in patients receiving thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: A prospective observational cohort study. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* **43**, 252–261 (2016).
- 87. Kaper, J. B., Brien, A. D. O. & Nataro, J. P. European evidence-based consensus: Inflammatory bowel disease and malignancies. *J. Crohn's Colitis* (2015). doi:10.1016/S1001-0742(10)60644-4
- 88. Blonski, W. C. *et al.* Risk of Lymphoma in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease Treated With Azathioprine and 6-Mercaptopurine: A Meta-analysis. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* (2014). doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2014.05.015
- Dupas, J. *et al.* Increased Risk for Nonmelanoma Skin Cancers in Patients Who Receive Thiopurines for Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* 141, 1621-1628 (2011).
- 90. Long, M. D. *et al.* Risk of melanoma and nonmelanoma skin cancer among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* **143**, 390-399 (2012).
- 91. Kaiko, G. E. *et al.* PAI-1 augments mucosal damage in colitis. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **11**, eaat0852 (2019).
- 92. Torres, J., Burisch, J., Riddle, M., Dubinsky, M. & Colombel, J.-F. Preclinical disease and preventive strategies in IBD: perspectives, challenges and opportunities. *Gut* **65**, 1061–1069 (2016).
- Sebastian, S. *et al.* Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: Results of the 3rd ECCO pathogenesis scientific workshop (I). *J. Crohn's Colitis* 8, 5-18 (2014).
- 94. Lyakhovich, A. & Gasche, C. Systematic review: Molecular chemoprevention of colorectal malignancy by mesalazine. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* **31**, 202–209 (2010).
- 95. Qiu, X., Ma, J., Wang, K. & Zhang, H. Chemopreventive effects of 5aminosalicylic acid on inflammatory bowel disease-associated colorectal cancer and dysplasia: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Oncotarget* **8**, 1031-1045 (2017).
- 96. Van Schaik, F. D. M. *et al.* Thiopurines prevent advanced colorectal neoplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* (2011). doi:10.1136/gut.2011.237412
- 97. Axelrad, J. E., Roy, A., Lawlor, G., Korelitz, B. & Lichtiger, S. Thiopurines and inflammatory bowel disease: Current evidence and a historical perspective. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **22**, 10103-10117 (2016).
- Kim, Y. J., Hong, K. S., Chung, J. W., Kim, J. H. & Hahm, K. B. Prevention of colitis-associated carcinogenesis with infliximab. *Cancer Prev. Res.* 3, 1314-1333 (2010).
- 99. Biancone, L. *et al.* Infliximab and newly diagnosed neoplasia in Crohn's disease: A multicentre matched pair study. *Gut* **55**, 228–233 (2006).

- Fidder, H. *et al.* Long-term safety of infliximab for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease: A single-centre cohort study. *Gut* 58, 501-508 (2009).
- 101. Rex, D. K. *et al.* Colorectal Cancer Screening: Recommendations for Physicians and Patients from the U.S. Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **112**, 1016–1030 (2017).
- 102. Collins, P. & Mpofu, C. Strategies for detecting colon cancer and/or dysplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (review). *Cochrane Collab.* (2008).
- 103. Lichtenstein, G. R. *et al.* Management of Crohn's disease in adults. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **104**, 465-483 (2009).
- 104. Higgins, P. D. R. Miles to go on the SCENIC route: Should chromoendoscopy become the standard of care in IBD surveillance? *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **110**, 1035-1037 (2015).
- 105. Marion, J. F. & Sands, B. E. The SCENIC Consensus Statement on Surveillance and Management of Dysplasia in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Praise and Words of Caution. *Gastroenterology* **148**, 462-467 (2015).
- 106. Van Den Broek, F. J. C. *et al.* Random biopsies taken during colonoscopic surveillance of patients with longstanding ulcerative colitis: Low yield and absence of clinical consequences. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **109**, 715-722 (2014).
- 107. Van Den Broek, F. J. C. *et al.* Endoscopic tri-modal imaging for surveillance in ulcerative colitis: Randomised comparison of high-resolution endoscopy and autofluorescence imaging for neoplasia detection; and evaluation of narrow-band imaging for classification of lesions. *Gut* **57**, 1083-1089 (2008).
- 108. Subramanian, V. *et al.* Comparison of high definition with standard white light endoscopy for detection of dysplastic lesions during surveillance colonoscopy in patients with colonic inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* (2012). doi:10.1002/ibd.23002
- 109. Paris Workshop Participants. The Paris endoscopic classification of superficial neoplastic lesions: esophagus, stomach, and colon. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* **58**, S3-S43 (2003).
- 110. Farraye, F. A., Odze, R. D., Eaden, J. & Itzkowitz, S. H. AGA Technical Review on the Diagnosis and Management of Colorectal Neoplasia in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* **138**, 746-774 (2010).
- Bharadwaj, S., Narula, N., Tandon, P. & Yaghoobi, M. The role of endoscopy in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* 81, 1101-1121 (2015).
- 112. Rubin, D. T., Rothe, J. A., Hetzel, J. T., Cohen, R. D. & Hanauer, S. B. Are dysplasia and colorectal cancer endoscopically visible in patients with ulcerative colitis? *Gastrointest. Endosc.* **65**, 998–1004 (2007).
- 113. SOETIKNO, R. *et al.* The detection of nonpolypoid (flat and depressed) colorectal neoplasms in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* **144**, 1349–1352 (2013).
- 114. Subramanian, V., Mannath, J., Ragunath, K. & Hawkey, C. J. Meta-analysis: The diagnostic yield of chromoendoscopy for detecting dysplasia in

patients with colonic inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* **33**, 304-312 (2011).

- 115. Marion, J. F. *et al.* Chromoendoscopy-targeted biopsies are superior to standard colonoscopic surveillance for detecting dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease patients: A prospective endoscopic trial. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **103**, 2342-2349 (2008).
- 116. Hurlstone, D. P., Sanders, D. S., Lobo, A. J., Cross, S. S. & McAlindon, M. E. Indigo Carmine-Assisted High-Magnification Chromoscopic Colonoscopy for the Detection and Characterisation of Intraepithelial Neoplasia in Ulcerative Colitis: A Prospective Evaluation. *Endoscopy* 37, 1186-1192 (2005).
- 117. Wu, L., Li, P., Wu, J., Cao, Y. & Gao, F. The diagnostic accuracy of chromoendoscopy for dysplasia in ulcerative colitis: Meta-analysis of six randomized controlled trials. *Color. Dis.* **14**, 416-420 (2010).
- 118. Picco, M. F. *et al.* Procedure Time and the Determination of Polypoid Abnormalities with Experience: Implementation of a Chromoendoscopy Program for Surveillance Colonoscopy for Ulcerative Colitis. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* **19**, 1913–1920 (2013).
- 119. Leifeld, L. *et al.* White-Light or Narrow-Band Imaging Colonoscopy in Surveillance of Ulcerative Colitis: A Prospective Multicenter Study. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2015.04.172
- 120. Dekker, E. *et al.* Narrow-band imaging compared with conventional colonoscopy for the detection of dysplasia in patients with longstanding ulcerative colitis. *Endoscopy* **39**, 216-221 (2007).
- 121. Ignjatovic, A. *et al.* Narrow band imaging for detection of dysplasia in colitis: A randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **107**, 885-890 (2012).
- 122. Laine, L. *et al.* SCENIC International Consensus Statement on Surveillance and Management of Dysplasia in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology* 148, 639-651 (2015).
- 123. Magro, F. *et al.* Third European Evidence-based Consensus on Diagnosis and Management of Ulcerative Colitis. Part 1: Definitions, Diagnosis, Extraintestinal Manifestations, Pregnancy, Cancer Surveillance, Surgery, and Ileoanal Pouch Disorders. *J. Crohn's Colitis* 1–39 (2017). doi:10.1093/eccojcc/jjx008
- 124. Navaneethan, U. *et al.* Random biopsies during surveillance colonoscopy increase dysplasia detection in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis. *J. Crohn's Colitis* **7**, 974–981 (2013).
- 125. Bisschops, R. *et al.* Chromoendoscopy versus narrow band imaging in UC: A prospective randomised controlled trial. *Gut* **0**, 1–8 (2017).
- 126. Iacucci, M. *et al.* A randomized trial comparing high definition colonoscopy alone with high definition dye spraying and electronic virtual chromoendoscopy for detection of colonic neoplastic lesions during IBD surveillance colonoscopy. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* **113**, 225–234 (2018).
- 127. Giacchetti, S. *et al.* Phase III Multicenter Randomized Trial of Oxaliplatin Added to Chronomodulated Fluorouracil-Leucovorin as First-Line Treatment of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **18**, 136 (2000).

- 128. Toden, S. *et al.* Cancer stem cell-associated miRNAs serve as prognostic biomarkers in colorectal cancer. *JCI insight* **4**, (2019).
- 129. Frank, N. Y., Schatton, T. & Frank, M. H. The therapeutic promise of the cancer stem cell concept. *J. Clin. Invest.* **120**, 41-50 (2010).
- 130. Polyak, K. & Weinberg, R. A. Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: Acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **9**, 265-273 (2009).
- 131. Naor, David, Nedvetzki S, Golan I, Melnik L, F. Y. CD44 in cancer. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* **39**, 527-79 (2002).
- O'Brien, C. A., Pollett, A., Gallinger, S. & Dick, J. E. A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. *Nat. Lett.* 445, 106-110 (2007).
- 133. Ricci-Vitiani, L. *et al.* Identification and expansion of human colon-cancerinitiating cells. *Nat. Lett.* **445**, 111-115 (2007).
- 134. Sun, X. *et al.* MicroRNAs and cancer stem cells: the sword and the shield. *Oncogene* 1-11 (2013). doi:10.1038/onc.2013.492
- 135. Widschwendter, M. *et al.* Epigenetic stem cell signature in cancer. *Nat. Genet.* **39**, 157–158 (2007).
- 136. Reynolds, I. S., O'Toole, A., Deasy, J., McNamara, D. A. & Burke, J. P. A metaanalysis of the clinicopathological characteristics and survival outcomes of inflammatory bowel disease associated colorectal cancer. *Int. J. Colorectal Dis.* (2017). doi:10.1007/s00384-017-2754-3
- Din, S. *et al.* Mutational analysis identifies therapeutic biomarkers in inflammatory bowel disease-associated colorectal cancers. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 24, 5133-5142 (2018).
- 138. Sinicrope, F. A. & Sargent, D. J. Molecular Pathways: Microsatellite Instability in Colorectal Cancer: Prognostic, Predictive and Therapeutic Implications Frank. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **18**, 1506–1512 (2012).
- Cristescu, R. *et al.* Molecular analysis of gastric cancer identifies subtypes associated with distinct clinical outcomes. *Nat. Med.* (2015). doi:10.1038/nm.3850
- 140. Svrcek, M. *et al.* Specific clinical and biological features characterize inflammatory bowel disease-associated colorectal cancers showing microsatellite instability. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **25**, 4231–4238 (2007).
- 141. Subedi, G. P. & Barb, A. W. The structural role of antibody N-glycosylation in receptor interactions. **23**, 1573-1583 (2015).
- 142. Krišti, J. & Lauc, G. Ubiquitous Importance of Protein Glycosylation. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **1503**, (2017).
- 143. Pinho, S. S. *et al.* E-cadherin and adherens-junctions stability in gastric carcinoma: Functional implications of glycosyltransferases involving N-glycan branching biosynthesis, N-acetylglucosaminyltransferases III and V. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.10.021
- 144. Pinho, S. S. *et al.* The role of N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase III and V in the post-transcriptional modifications of E-cadherin. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **18**, 2599–2608 (2009).
- 145. Carvalho, S., Reis, C. A. & Pinho, S. S. Cadherins Glycans in Cancer: Sweet

Players in a Bitter Process. Trends in Cancer 2, 519-531 (2016).

- 146. Marth, J. D. & Grewal, P. K. Mammalian glycosylation in immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **8**, 874-887 (2008).
- 147. Chen, H. L., Li, C. F., Grigorian, A., Tian, W. & Demetriou, M. T cell receptor signaling co-regulates multiple golgi genes to enhance N-glycan branching. *J. Biol. Chem.* **284**, 32454-32461 (2009).
- 148. Dias, A. M. *et al.* Metabolic control of T cell immune response through glycans in inflammatory bowel disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **115**, E4651–E4660 (2018).
- 149. Pereira, M. S. *et al.* A [Glyco]biomarker that Predicts Failure to Standard Therapy in Ulcerative Colitis Patients. *J. Crohns. Colitis* (2019). doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy139
- Prideaux, L., Cruz, P. De, Ng, S. C. & Kamm, M. A. Serological Antibodies in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A systematic review. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 1-16 (2011). doi:10.1002/ibd.21903
- 151. Paul, S. *et al.* Association of anti-Glycan antibodies and Inflammatory Bowel Disease Course. *J. Crohn's Colitis* 1-29 (2015).
- 152. Bonneau, J. *et al.* Systematic review: New serological markers (anti-glycan, anti-GP2, anti-GM-CSF Ab) in the prediction of IBD patient outcomes. *Autoimmun. Rev.* (2014). doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.11.004
- Rieder, F. *et al.* Serum Anti-Glycan Antibodies Predict Complicated Crohn's Disease Behavior: A Cohort Study. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 16, 1367-1375 (2010).
- 154. Smids, C. *et al.* The value of serum antibodies in differentiating inflammatory bowel disease, predicting disease activity and disease course in the newly diagnosed patient. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* (2017). doi:10.1080/00365521.2017.1344875
- 155. Kaul, A. *et al.* Serum Anti-Glycan Antibody Biomarkers for Inflammatory Bowel Disease Diagnosis and Progression: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* **18**, 1872–1884 (2012).
- 156. Gasdaska, J. R., Sherwood, S., Regan, J. T. & Dickey, L. F. An afucosylated anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody with greater antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity and B-cell depletion and lower complement-dependent cytotoxicity than rituximab. *Mol. Immunol.* **50**, 134–141 (2012).
- 157. Scanlan, C. N., Burton, D. R. & Dwek, R. A. Making autoantibodies safe. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **105**, 4081-4082 (2008).
- 158. Šimurina, M. *et al.* Glycosylation of Immunoglobulin G Associates With Clinical Features of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Gastroenterology* **154**, 1320-1333 (2018).
- 159. Salvatore, S. *et al.* A pilot study of N-acetyl glucosamine, a nutritional substrate for glycosaminoglycan synthesis, in paediatric chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* **14**, 1567–1579 (2000).